1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2 INTERNATIONAL ACADEMY OF
3 STYLE,

4 Appellant,

5 vs.

6 DIVISION OF INDUSTRIAL
RELATIONS,

7 Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Oct 05 2021 10:41 p.m.
Case No.: 82864
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

8 **APPEAL FROM ORDER OF THE 2ND**
9 **JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT**
10 **WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA**

11 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

12 JASON D. GUINASSO, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8478
13 ALEX R. VELTO, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.14961
14 Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC
5371 Kietzke Lane
15 Reno, NV 89511
Tel.: 775-853-8746
16 Fax: 775-201-9611
jguinasso@hutchlegal.com
17 avelto@hutchlegal.com
Attorneys for International Academy
18 *of Style*

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

1

1 **III. ISSUES PRESENTED**

2 A. Whether the cosmetology professionals who contracted with IAS
3 are excluded from the definition of “Employer” under the Nevada Industrial
4 Insurance Act (“NIIA”) because they are “independent enterprises?”

5 B. Whether “independent enterprises” under NRS 616B.603 can be
6 understood as a statute on its face, or it is ambiguous and requires the Court to
7 look to *Meers*, 101 Nev. 283, 286, 701 P.2d 1006, 1007 (1985)?

8 C. Whether, despite the fact that all cosmetology professionals had
9 workers’ compensation coverage either through their own coverage or through
10 coverage provided by IAS, the Division of Industrial Relations (“DIR”) determinations issued on March 14, 2017, and assessing a premium penalty in
11 the amount of \$251.10 for the period of December 1, 2016 to December 30,
12 2016, and a premium penalty in the amount of \$16,390.94 for the period of
13 December 21, 2010, to November 30, 2015, are supported by the evidence
14 presented and Nevada law?
15

16 **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

17 The District Court and Appeals Officer made clear errors of law when
18 they misapplied NRS 616B.603. That portion of statute exempt employers who
19 retain independent enterprises. “Independent enterprises” is a term that is

1 clearly defined in statute, and both the District Court and Appeals Officer read
2 into the statute additional language and requirements in order avoid exempting
3 IAS from NRS 616B.603. Both entities could have, and should have, applied
4 the statute as written and determined that IAS instructors are “independent
5 enterprise” because they hold themselves out as being engaged in a separate
6 business and hold his or her own occupational license or owns, rents, or leases
7 property in furtherance of that business. *See* NRS 616B.603(2)(a)-(b). IAS
8 instructors, in-fact, are not in the business of education. They maintain their
9 own separate businesses and are retained by IAS because of their unique
10 experience. Because of this experience and retention policy, IAS instructors
11 are better classified as “independent enterprises.”

12 This argument is best explained by way of example. The hypothetical
13 of Boyd Law School offers a useful parallel. Just like IAS, Boyd is a law
14 school in the education business. Being in the education business, Boyd retains
15 some full-time professors to provide basic legal education. The professors are
16 in the education business and typically enjoy careers as professors of law.
17 Those professors are clearly employees of Boyd. However, Boyd also engages
18 practicing lawyers from the community from time-to-time to teach seminars,
19 to provide practical instruction in the classroom, and to serve as adjunct

1 professors. Some of these lawyers are solo practitioners and some work at law
2 firms, etc. These lawyers are not employees of the law school; they are
3 independent contractors. These lawyers are not in the same trade or business
4 as the law school. They are not in the business of education. They are in the
5 business of law. They provide instruction that benefits the students, not the
6 law school. And Boyd does not need to retain them to deliver education.

7 These adjunct professors at Boyd are analogous to IAS instructors. IAS
8 retains some cosmetology professionals—in addition to their full-time staff—
9 who are solo practitioners or work for established salons. They are not
10 employees of IAS; they are independent contractors. They are not in the
11 business of education; they are in the cosmetology business. But, the
12 instructors are not in the education business.

13 The District Court and Appeals Officer erred in reading in a preclusion of
14 the independent enterprise statute for independent contractors who are useful
15 and/or necessary for a school. However, that requirement does not exist in
16 statute. All the law requires is: (1) the person entered into a contract (not
17 written contracts, just an agreement) with an independent enterprise who is not
18 in the same business; (2) the person be in a separate business; and (3) the
19 person hold him or herself out as being in a separate business. The record

1 established that IAS does not need to retain these practitioners to deliver
2 education to their students. If IAS decides not to retain their services, it can
3 still function as a business and deliver education. Every IAS instructor has
4 been retained by IAS as an independent contractor. Because the District Court
5 and Appeals Court arbitrarily heightened the standard and read in new legal
6 requirements, this Court should reverse the lower court and Appeals Officer's
7 decision and remand.

8 **V. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

9 **A. Factual Background**

10 i. DIR's action and hearing before Appeals Officer

11 On March 14, 2017, DIR rendered a determination notifying IAS of the
12 premium penalty owed in the amount of \$16,390.94. JA 1707-08. Also on
13 March 14, 2017, DIR rendered a determination notifying IAS of the premium
14 penalty owed in the amount of \$251.10. JA 1740-41. IAS requested its hearing
15 before the Appeals Officer on March 20, 2017. JA 1075, JA 1738. The
16 Appeals Officer heard the matter on November 8, 2021. JA 1658-59.

17 The Appeals Officer issued her final order on February 20, 2020. JA 676-689.
18 She found the following relevant facts:
19

- The Division issued a determination on March 14, 2017 imposing a premium penalty of \$16,390.94 for a lapse in coverage from December 21, 2010 through November 30, 2015. JA 878.
- The Division issued a determination imposing a premium penalty of \$251.10 for lapse of insurance between December 1, 2016 through December 30, 2016. *Id.*
- IAS sent the Division copies of certificates of general liability insurance for eight instructors. JA 679.
- IAS produced “Independent Instructor Agreements,” which were not valid during the first lapse period from 2010 through 2015. *Id.* These agreements declared each instructor “an independent contractor” and “declared [the instructors’] provide cosmetology services, hair design services, licensed instructor services and aesthetician and/or nail technology services.” *Id.* Each claimed IAS was an “educational facility licensed pursuant to NRS 644.380 to conduct a school of cosmetology.” *Id.*
- All agreements except for one require instructors to pay a monthly chair rental agreement. JA 680.

- 1 • Ms. Casteel, the owner of IAS, claimed IAS always had
2 agreements like the ones produced. She testified further that IAS
3 instructors “set their own schedules” and “can teach at other
4 schools.” She testified that “instructors perform no other tasks
5 and that a no show does not have any effect on the instructor.” *Id.*
- 6 • Regarding IAS’s claim that instructors are “independent
7 enterprise,” not “independent contractors,” the Appeals officer
8 concluded the instructors “are clearly furthering the operation of
9 the business of the school by providing instruction necessary to
10 qualify as a cosmetology school. The instructors are also clearly
11 in the same trade business, occupation or profession as Ms.
12 Casteel and Ms. Schultz.” JA 681.
- 13 • Regarding the five-factor test, the Appeals Officer concluded that
14 Ms. “Casteel was self-serving and appeared scripted and therefore
15 found not credible.” She concluded further that the witness
16 statements were not credible. The Appeals Officer relied on the
17 fact that IAS must have proper instruction according to the
18 guidelines of the Board of Cosmetology. *Id.*

1 For the conclusions of law, the Appeals Officer quoted the following
2 portions of statute and code: NRS 616B.633, NRS 616.200, NRS 616A.110,
3 NRS 616D.200, NRS 616A.255, NRS 616A.210, NRS 616B.603, NRS
4 616A.350, NRS 644.395, NAC 644.105, NRS 616B.609,

5 ii. IAS's Petition for Judicial Review before the
6 District Court

7 IAS timely filed a petition for judicial review before the District Court.
8 It's opening brief, JA 1745-76, argued the Appeals Officer erred for the
9 following reasons: (1) the cosmetology professionals who contract with IAS
10 are expressly precluded from the definition of "Employee" under the Nevada
11 Industrial Insurance Act; (2) IAS is not the employer of cosmetology
12 professionals because they are independent enterprises under statute; (3) IAS
13 is not required to maintain workers compensation coverage on cosmetology
14 professionals for industrial injuries suffered by the professionals; and (4) the
15 penalty assessed against IAS was unlawful.

16 The Division's answering brief, JA 1777-1820, argued: (1) the faculty
17 and staff of IAS are employees, not independent contractors; (2) IAS is
18 required to maintain workers' compensation coverage regardless of the
19 instructor's employment status; (3) the instructors are employees, not

1 independent enterprises, and the degree of control test means the instructors
2 are considered employees; and (4) Nevada law prevents IAS from requiring
3 staff to waive rights to workers compensation.

4 IAS's reply brief, JA 1821-29, argued: (1) the Appeals Officer erred in
5 concluding IAS independent contractor agreements are not permitted; (2) The
6 Appeals Officer's conclusion that the Cosmetology Board's requirement that
7 two instructors be at the school is not supported by evidence; and (3) The
8 instructors are not employees because they are independent enterprises.

9 The District Court heard argument on the issue on February 12, 2021.
10 JA 1832-33. The Court took the matter under submission.

11 iii. The District Court's order denying the Petition for
12 Judicial Review

13 The District Court issued its order denying the Petition for Judicial
14 Review on March 1, 2021. JA 1834-44. It determined that: (1) the record
15 supported the employee classification finding because the test under NRS
16 616A.110(9) is conjunctive, not disjunctive; (2) the record supported the
17 finding that the instructors are not independent enterprise because, the court
18 determined, the *Meers* test was established, in-part, because there were not
19 written agreements from 2010-2013; and (3) the record supports the

1 independent contractor finding based on the five factor test. The Court agreed
2 there was some supervision, that there was compensation paid for their
3 services, an unemployment claim was permitted, and Ms. Casteel's testimony
4 was not credible.

5 **VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

6 The parameters of judicial review are established by statute. Judicial
7 review of a final decision of an agency must be conducted by the Court without
8 a jury and confined to the record. NRS 233B.135(1). The final decision of the
9 Agency shall be deemed reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in
10 whole or in part by the Court. NRS 233B.135(2). The burden of proof is on
11 the party attacking the decision to show that the final decision is invalid. NRS
12 233B.135(2). However, a Court may set aside, in whole or in part, a final
13 decision of an administrative agency where substantial rights of the petitioner
14 have been prejudiced because the final decision is in violation of statutory
15 provisions, affected by other error of law, clearly erroneous in view of the
16 reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record, or arbitrary,
17 capricious, or characterized by abuse of discretion. NRS 233B.135(3).

18 There are two (2) steps in the long-established methodology for applying
19 the substantial evidence standard set forth in NRS 233B.135(3)(e)-(f).

1 First, identifying the law which governs the contested issue, as such law
2 establishes what facts had to be proven, and how such facts had to be proven.
3 *United Exposition Service Co. v. State Indus. Ins. Sys.*, 109 Nev. 421, 424, 851
4 P.2d 423 (1993); *Horne v. State Indus. Sys.*, 113 Nev. 532, 936 P.2d 839
5 (1997); *State Emp. Sec. Div. v. Reliable Health Care Servs.*, 115 Nev. 253, 983
6 P.2d 414 (1999); *Langman v. Nev. Admr's, Inc.*, 114 Nev. 203, 955 P.2d 188
7 (1998); *Bullock v. Pinnacle Risk Mgmt.*, 113 Nev. 1385, 1388, 951 P.2d 1036
8 (1997); *Gubber v. Independence Mining Co.*, 112 Nev. 190, 192, 911 P.2d
9 1191 (1996); *Installation & Dismantle v. State Indus. Ins. Sys.*, 110 Nev. 930,
10 879 P.2d 58 (1994); *Titanium Metals Corp. v. Clark County*, 99 Nev. 397, 399,
11 663 P.2d 355 (1983).

12 Second, reviewing the record on appeal and determining whether the
13 record contains both that quantity and quality of factual evidence which a
14 reasonable person could accept as adequate proof of what the governing law
15 requires. *Id.* If the record on appeal does not contain both that quantity and
16 quality of factual evidence which a reasonable person could accept as adequate
17 proof of what the governing law requires, then the decision of the
18 administrative agency (Appeals Officer in this case) may be deemed by the
19 Court to be clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial

evidence on the whole record, or arbitrary, capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion. NRS 233B.135(3).

This Court has the authority and the responsibility to independently review an Appeals Officer's application of the statutes governing the payment of workers' compensation benefits. *See Amazon.com v. Magee*, 121 Nev. 632 (Nev. 2005); *Washoe Co. School Dist. v. Bowen*, 114 Nev. 879, 882, (1998). Therefore, this Court should address this matter anew, without deference to the Appeals Officer's conclusions.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. The Appeals Officer and the District Court erred as a matter of law by determining IAS is the employer of the instructors because IAS enters written contract with instructors, who are not in the same business as IAS, and the instructors hold their own occupational licenses.

A person is not an employer if the person enters a contract with another person who is an independent enterprise, and the parties are not in the same trade, business, profession, or occupation as each other. *See* NRS 616B.603(1)(a)-(b). A person is an "independent enterprise" if he or she holds herself out as being engaged in a separate business and holds his or her own occupational license or owns, rents, or leases property in furtherance of that business. *See* NRS 616B.603(2)(a)-(b). "[U]nder NRS 616B.603 and *Meers*,

1 upon which the statute is based, a person who enters into a contract with an
2 independent enterprise in a different line of work, to perform work not
3 normally carried out by the person's own employees, is not considered a
4 statutory employer.” *Harris v. Rio Hotel & Casino, Inc.*, 117 Nev. 482, 492,
5 25 P.3d 206, 212 (2001).

6 The Appeals Officer and District Court erred in their application of NRS
7 616B.604. The Appeals Officer erred in reading NRS 616B.603 as excluding
8 instructors who “further[] the operation of the business of the school,” an
9 element not identified in statute. JA 681. Instead, all that is required is that a
10 person hold his or herself out as being engaged in a separate business *or* renting
11 property.

12 Here, IAS was not an “employer” of the cosmetology professionals with
13 which they have contracted. Instead, the cosmetology professionals are
14 independent enterprises because they have written contracts with IAS, are not
15 in the same business as IAS, and each instructor holds his or her own
16 occupational license.

17 The IAS instructors definitively hold themselves out as not being
18 engaged in the same business as IAS. IAS instructors are cosmetology
19 professionals who own or work in salons. They make their living from the

1 performance of cosmetology services; they are not in the business of education,
2 much in the same way a practicing attorney who is an adjunct professor makes
3 his or her living practicing law. The Independent Instructor Agreements
4 indicate that IAS is a “an educational facility.” JA 291. They also indicate
5 that they “hold [themselves] out to be engaged in a separate business from IAS,
6 including having [their] own name and/or owning, renting, or leasing property
7 in furtherance of [their] business.” JA 296. IAS also supplied affidavits of the
8 instructors that attested they work at separate salons and rent chairs there. JA
9 412-430. The instructors are not in the same business as IAS because they are
10 in the business of cosmetology practice, whereas the school is in the education
11 business.

12 The District Court too erred in its interpretation of NRS 616B.603. It
13 relied heavily on the fact that there were not “written agreements” prior to
14 2013. JA 1842. However, NRS 616B.603 does not require written contracts,
15 it only requires that the independent enterprise “enters into a contract,”
16 something that can be done without writing. *Dolge v. Masek*, 70 Nev. 314,
17 268 P.2d 919 (1954). Further, the District Court seemingly applied a
18 conjunctive test analysis to NRS 616B.603 when the statute is expressly
19 disjunctive. *See Loughrin v. U.S.*, 573 U.S. 351, 357 (2014) (“To read the next

1 clause, following the word ‘or,’ as somehow repeating that requirement, even
2 while using different words, is to disregard what “or” customarily means. As
3 we have recognized that term's “ordinary use is almost always disjunctive.”).

4 i. The Appeals Officer erred under substantial
5 evidence in applying its interpretation of NRS
6 616B.603.

7 The Appeals Officer also erred in applying NRS 616B.603 under
8 substantial evidence. The record before the Appeals Officer supported this
9 finding and it was an abuse of discretion to decide otherwise. The instructors
10 are an independent enterprise. This is driven by statute, not case law. NRS
11 616B.613 makes clear that IAS is not a statutory employer because the
12 activities of the cosmetology professionals are not indispensable to IAS and
13 said activities, in this business, are not normally carried on through employees.
14 IAS chooses to have instructors who are not full-time employees, and who
15 have their own separate and distinct careers, because it enriches the learning
16 experience for the students. That choice, however, does not change their
17 classification. In fact, pursuant to NRS 616B.603(2), an “independent
18 enterprise” is a person who holds himself out as being engaged in a separate
19 business and holds a business license in his own name or owns, rents, or leases
property used in furtherance of his or her business.

1 Each instructor signed “independent instructor agreements,” W-9 forms,
2 and Nevada State and Reno business licenses. *See, e.g.*, JA 291 - 299. These
3 business licenses were produced because each instructor indicated that he or
4 she provided cosmetology services, hair design and/or aesthetician services in
5 his or her professional capacity. *See* JA 760. The instructors are there to
6 provide additional education that is important but not necessary. *See* JA 761
7 (“They do practical—their showing them haircuts. You know, what they do
8 in the salon . . . so that the student can visually see it.”). The agreements
9 further indicated that IAS was an educational facility JA 1841. Further, each
10 agreement contained a chair rental agreement (except for one). *Id.*

11 The record supports the conclusion that the instructors hold themselves
12 out to be engage in separate businesses, which is uncontradicted. All
13 cosmetology professionals hold themselves out to be engaged in separate
14 businesses from IAS, including having their own business licenses in their own
15 names and/or owning/renting property in furtherance of their businesses. *See*
16 JA 760. The instructors are free to show up when they want and there is no
17 punishment if they do not. JA 772. There is no obligation the instructors find
18 someone to cover a shift. *Id.* Further, IAS has had these agreements since the
19 beginning of operation. JA 761-63. The Appeals Officer determined that Ms.

1 Casteel was not credible. However, there was no evidence presented to counter
2 her testimony even if she was not credible. And there was only testimony that
3 she did not need the instructors to perform the essential aspects of her business.
4 JA 761.

5 ii. The Appeals Officer and District Court erred in
6 applying the *Meers* test and its codification under
NRS 616B.603.

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