STATE OF NEVADA Division of Industrial Relations - Division Counsel's Office 3360 W. Sahara Ave. Sto. 250 I ac Victor Manual, 60100

6

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF NEVADA Supreme Court No.: 78076

INTERNATIONAL ACADEMY OF STYLE,

Petitioner,

vs.

DIVISION OF INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, and the NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, APPEALS OFFICER SHEILA MOORE,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Nov 18 2021 11:57 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT DIVISION'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

The District Court correctly held that the Appeals Officer did not err in finding that the instructors were not independent enterprises. Moreover, even if they were independent enterprises, they were in the same trade or business as IAS. Therefore, the District Court properly affirmed the Appeals Officer's Decision and

workplaces and applied the Meers test to both.

Order holding that the evidence showed IAS was at all relevant times the statutory employer of the instructors and staff.

1. Even if the control test applies, IAS is still the instructors' statutory employer.

IAS argues that the five-part control test enunciated by the Nevada Supreme Court in *Clark County, supra*, proves that the instructors are not employees of IAS. Even though, that "control test" was abrogated by the adoption of NRS 616B.603, IAS's instructors still would not meet the requirements to be independent contractors.

a. <u>Degree of supervision exercised by putative employer</u> over details of work.

IAS argues the instructors operate unsupervised. The NSCB maintains standards with which IAS instructors must comply in order to remain an accredited school. Some of the Agreements IAS drafted require "instruction and records shall be in a format that complies with the standards and policies of the accrediting agency for International Academy of Style." JA 867. Moreover, the Agreements require instructors to perform certain tasks. For instance, one of the contracts required the instructor to record students' grades and attendance. Ms. Casteel testified that despite the contract, instructors were "not required to do anything like that." JA776 101, ll. 1-9. However, the Appeals Officer found Ms. Casteel's testimony to be self-serving and not credible.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Contrast IAS' arguments and Ms. Casteel's testimony with the later Agreements dating from 2014 and later. Those Agreements required instructors to provide instruction in a "competent manner" or be subject to termination of the contract. E.g., JA 975. Those later Agreements also provide the following:

> QUALITY OF SERVICE: Instructor shall perform his 19. or her services with care, skill and diligence in accordance with applicable professional standards currently issued by such profession in similar circumstances, and shall be responsible for the professional quality and completeness of all services performed under this Agreement.

E.g., JA 980. DIR posits it would be impossible for Ms. Casteel and/or Ms. Schultz to determine whether an instructor was providing competent instruction in accordance with professional standards without any supervision. Therefore, IAS fails to meet the first part of the five-part test.

The District Court agreed finding that "the record illustrates multiple instances of supervision." JA 1857. Those instances included requiring the instructor to record grades and attendance and the fact that Ms. Casteel terminated an instructor for requiring her student to bring her food. The Court found that the later agreements included provisions that allowed IAS to terminate the agreement for cause including failing to perform services in a competent manner and failing to perform the terms of the agreement. "The Court notes some degree of supervision is required to determine whether an Instructor was performing pursuant to he terms of the agreement and providing competent instruction in accordance with professional standards." Id.

b. Source of the workers' wages

IAS next argues that the source of payment (wages) to cosmetology professionals is student tuition monies somehow means that the instructors are independent contractors. Opening Brief at 16. Many, but not all the Agreements, provide an hourly rate the instructor is paid for providing services. Some Agreements left the wage blank. Some Agreements provide for a chair rental fee but not before 2016. All businesses take a portion of their revenue and set it aside to compensate employees. IAS is no different in that respect. The fact that the money came from tuition versus sales of merchandise makes no difference in the status of IAC as an employer.

c. Right to hire and fire.

IAS argues that the Agreement dictates the terms of employment as if no human is involved in the decision-making. The earlier Agreements drafted by IAS did not provide termination clauses. However, later Agreements provided that "IAS may terminate this Agreement at any time "for cause," the grounds for which are defined below." Those grounds include "C. Instructor fails to perform his or her services in a competent manner" and "Instructor fails to maintain a safe environment for students while performing services on IAS' premises or instructing IAS students," and "G. Instructor fails to perform the terms and conditions as agreed upon under this Agreement." JA 975.

Ms. Casteel testified, again not credibly, that terminating an instructor "it never happens...So, for the most part, they're with us until they—until they decide they don't want to teach anymore." JA 771. In fact, the evidence shows that IAS first came to the attention of the Attorney General's office because IAS did indeed terminate an instructor for misconduct. Ms. Casteel told the Attorney General's investigator about the aforementioned termination of one of the instructors for requiring a student to bring her food, which conduct was unacceptable to Ms. Casteel and possibly in violation of NRS 644.103. JA 1576. The Instructor successfully filed an unemployment claim with DETR against IAS. Therefore, IAS clearly has the right to hire and fire its instructors.

d. <u>Extent to which the workers' activities further 'general business concerns.'</u>

IAS argues that it can be operated exclusively by the two owners and that the instructors provide a "unique benefit" to IAS students.⁷ IAS's Opening Brief at p. 20. This part of the test does not require the services of employees to be necessary but that they further the general business concern. Ms. Casteel testified IAS uses instructors to provide a "well-rounded education. They're [the students] going to learn more if they have several people showing them the same thing" rather than just Ms. Schultz or Ms. Casteel instructing the students. JA 760. However, instructors are required for the school to be properly licensed:

10

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

NAC 644.115 Curriculum for cosmetologists; exemption for barbers in certain circumstances. (NRS 644.110, 644.400)

- 1. Each school of cosmetology must offer the following subjects for training barbers and students to be cosmetologists:
 - (a) Aesthetic services.
 - (b) Chemical hair services.
- (c) Cosmetology theory, with a minimum of 3 percent of the total hours of training mandatory for students who are barbers and 10 percent of the total hours of training mandatory for all other students.
- (d) Field trips and modeling, with a maximum of 5 percent of the total hours of training optional for all students.

The instructors are invited to IAS for the benefit of the students and the success of IAS's students are surely of concern to the business if the school wants to remain open. Once again, without instructors, there exists no IAS.

e. Right to control hours and location of work.

IAS argues that IAS does not control the hours the instructors teach. However, while ostensibly the instructor chooses his or her schedule, he or she still must teach during the hours IAS is open unless he or she specifically gets permission to work after hours. IAS controls the hours within which the instructor may work. Moreover, the instructors must teach on IAS's premises. As for the right to control the location of work, NRS 644.380(1)(a) requires a school of cosmetology to submit a detailed floor plan of the school for approval. NRS 644.380(2)(b) requires that a school "contains adequate floor space and adequate

⁷ Of course, this would require both owners to be on site from approximately 8:45 in the morning to 10:30 at night five days a week. This may be physically possible but unlikely.

11

12

13

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

D. The faculty and staff of IAS are employees, not independent contractors pursuant to the requirements of the NIIA.

IAS argues that NRS 616A.110(9) excludes IAS instructors because they operate pursuant to a written agreement which acknowledges the instructors are not employees. NRS 616A.110(9) is written in the conjunctive meaning that each of the three conditions must be met for the instructor/staff member to be excluded from the definition of "employee" under the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act ("NIIA"), Chapters 616A through 616D and 617 of the NRS.

NRS 616A.110 "Employee": Persons excluded. "Employee" excludes:

- 9. Any person who:
- (a) Directly sells or solicits the sale of products, in person or by telephone:
- (1) On the basis of a deposit, commission, purchase for resale or similar arrangement specified by the Administrator by regulation, if the products are to be resold to another person in his or her home or place other than a retail store; or
- (2) To another person from his or her home or place other than a retail store;
- (b) Receives compensation or remuneration based on sales to customers rather than for the number of hours that the person works; and
- (c) Performs pursuant to a written agreement with the person for whom the services are performed which provides that the person who performs the services is not an employee for the purposes of this chapter.

There is no evidence that IAS instructors or staff members sell or solicit the sale of products let alone sell those products from their home or place other than a retail location; therefore, NRS 616A.110(9)(a) does not apply. In addition, IAS instructors per the terms of their Agreements are paid per hour and not by commission based upon sales. Therefore, NRS 616A.110(9)(b) does not apply. Consequently, IAS teachers and staff do not meet the requirements of the statute regardless of the existence of a written agreement that they are employees.

The District Court agreed that the Appeals Officer properly determined this section to be inapplicable based upon substantial evidence and that the Appeals Officer did not err as a matter of law.

E. <u>IAS</u> is still required to maintain workers' compensation coverage regardless of the instructors and staff's employment status.

IAS next argues that its faculty are independent contractors pursuant to NRS 616A.255:

NRS 616A.255 "Independent contractor" defined. "Independent contractor" means any person who renders service for a specified recompense for a specified result, under the control of the person's principal as to the result of the person's work only and not as to the means by which such result is accomplished.

Regardless of whether IAS instructors or staff are independent contractors is irrelevant because under the NIIA, independent contractors are considered

9

10

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

employees of the principal contractor for the purposes of workers' compensation coverage.

NRS 616A.210 "Employee": Subcontractors and employees.

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in <u>NRS 616B.603</u>, subcontractors, independent contractors and the employees of either shall be deemed to be employees of the principal contractor for the purposes of <u>chapters 616A</u> to <u>616D</u>, inclusive, of NRS.
- 2. If the subcontractor is a sole proprietor or partnership licensed pursuant to <u>chapter 624</u> of NRS, the sole proprietor or partner shall be deemed to receive a wage of \$500 per month for the purposes of <u>chapters 616A</u> to <u>616D</u>, inclusive, of NRS.
- 3. This section does not affect the relationship between a principal contractor and a subcontractor or independent contractor for any purpose outside the scope of chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS.

"Principal contractor" is defined by NRS 616A.285:

NRS 616A.285 "Principal contractor" defined. "Principal contractor" means a person who:

- 1. Coordinates all the work on an entire project;
- 2. Contracts to complete an entire project;
- 3. Contracts for the services of any subcontractor or independent contractor; or
- 4. Is responsible for payment to any contracted subcontractors or independent contractors.

IAS is licensed as a cosmetology school pursuant to NRS 644.380⁸ which statute requires sufficient staff, two licensed instructors present at all times. IAS

NRS 644.380 Application for license; determinations by Board; fee; new license required for operation after change in ownership or location; approval of changes in physical structure of school by Board; regulations.

^{1.} Any person desiring to conduct a school of cosmetology in which any one or any combination of the

contracts with its students to provide them with accredited instruction pursuant to both NRS Chapter 644 and the National Accreditation Commission of Career Arts such that when their training is complete, the students meet the requirements to obtain a license as a cosmetologist by the Nevada State Board of Cosmetology. IAS contracts for the services of its instructors and staff and is responsible for paying them pursuant to the terms of the Agreements IAS alleges it requires every instructor and staff member to sign. Therefore, it was appropriate for the Appeals

occupations of cosmetology are taught must apply to the Board for a license, through the owner, manager or person in charge, upon forms prepared and furnished by the Board. Each application must contain proof of the particular requisites for a license provided for in this chapter, and must be verified by the oath of the maker. The forms must be accompanied by:

- (a) A detailed floor plan of the proposed school; ***
- 2. Upon receipt by the Board of the application, the Board shall, before issuing a license, determine whether the proposed school:
 - (a) Is suitably located.
 - (b) Contains adequate floor space and adequate equipment.
- (c) Has a contract for the enrollment of a student in a program at the school of cosmetology that is approved by the Board.
- (d) Admits as regular students only persons who have received a certificate of graduation from high school, or the recognized equivalent of such a certificate, or who are beyond the age of compulsory school attendance.
- (e) Meets all requirements established by regulations of the Board.

7. After a license has been issued for the operation of a school of cosmetology, the licensee must obtain the approval of the Board before making any changes in the physical structure of the school.

Officer to conclude that IAS is the principal contractor and that all the instructors, as well as the staff that handles financial aid and other bookkeeping, are employees for the purposes of workers' compensation coverage.

F. Nevada law prohibits IAS from requiring staff to waive their right to workers' compensation.

In addition to all the preceding reasons why IAS' staff are employees for the purpose of workers' compensation, Nevada statutes specifically preclude an employer from modifying its liability in a contract of employment. Any such modification is void. NRS 61B.609 states, in part:

NRS 616B.609 Devices modifying liability void; exception.

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2:
- (a) A contract of employment, insurance, relief benefit, indemnity, or any other device, does not modify, change or waive any liability created by chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS.
- (b) A contract of employment, insurance, relief benefit, indemnity, or any other device, having for its purpose the waiver or modification of the terms or liability created by chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, of NRS is void.
- 2. Nothing in this section prevents an owner or lessor of real property from requiring an employer who is leasing the real property from agreeing to insure the owner or lessor of the property against any liability for repair or maintenance of the premises.

⁹ IAS appears to have abandoned its arguments that the doctrines of laches, *res judicata*, and equitable estoppel bar the imposition of the premium penalties at issue in this appeal. The District Court found the Appeals Officer to have correctly determined neither doctrine applies in this instance. DIR respectfully requests the right to file a supplemental brief if IAS raises these issues in any reply brief.

The facts and law establish IAS's instructors and staff, including Char who admitted to DIR investigators she provided financial aid and other services to the school rather than instruction, are employees. IAS cannot legally negotiate its way out of providing mandatory workers' compensation coverage for its employees.

VI. CONCLUSION

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